

# DECARBONISING STEEL MAKING IN CHINA THROUGH CIRCULAR ECONOMY APPROACHES

Teresa Domenech\*<sup>1</sup>, Raimund Bleischwitz<sup>2</sup> and Alvaro Calzadilla<sup>3</sup>.

\*corresponding author, email: t.domenech@ucl.ac.uk

<sup>1</sup> and <sup>3</sup> University College London Institute for Sustainable Resources, [Central House, 14 Upper Woburn Place, London WC1H 0NN, UK](#)

<sup>2</sup> Leibniz Centre for Tropical Marine Research (ZMT), Bremen, Germany

## Summary

In this issue of One Earth, Li and Hanaoka explore technological and policy options for decarbonising China's iron and steel sector, which produces more than half of the world's crude steel. We expand on the discussion to consider opportunities and challenges associated with circular economy approaches of steelmaking.

Steel is a core material for infrastructures such as buildings and construction, transport, machinery and equipment and, incidentally, low-carbon technologies including wind turbines and electric vehicles. Thus, steel manufacturing is a core foundational industry and precursor of economic and social development. In 2021, the global production of steel was 1951 million tonnes, half of this demand was generated by China, where domestic demand increased substantially from 773.8 to 952.0 million tonnes between 2017-2021<sup>1</sup>.

Although a vital material, steel is also among the most energy intensive products: around 75% of energy inputs for steelmaking comes from coal, making the steel sector the largest industrial consumer of coal – the most carbon-intensive energy source. As a result, every tonne of steel in 2019 was, on average, associated with 1.851 tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. The total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions generated by the steel sector reached 2.6 billion tonnes in 2019, accounting for 7%-9% of global Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions<sup>2</sup>.

In a recent One Earth article, Li and Hanaoka<sup>3</sup> use the AIM/ENDUSE model to examine different technological and policy options at regional scales that can accelerate the decarbonisation of the steel sector in China. They consider 12 scenarios with different low-carbon technology adoption rates and environmental taxation systems. The comprehensive modelling helps to map the effect of different technologies, including Electric Arc Furnaces (EAFs), Direct Reduced Iron-EAF, hydrogen, power grid decarbonisation, carbon capture and storage (CCS); as well as policy instruments such as carbon and energy taxes. The analysis estimates emissions of GHG and other pollutants under the different scenarios and concludes that successful decarbonisation will require a profound restructuring of the current steel sector in China, including the reduction of the share of the Basic Oxygen Furnaces (BOF) and addressing the overcapacity issue that can result in installing excessive production capacity. Importantly, the study emphasises the role of policy as an enabler of the low-carbon transition. The combination of different measures including a shift to EAF production, decarbonisation of the power grid, energy saving technologies and carbon/energy taxes and other regulatory instruments are all necessary to move the sector towards carbon-neutrality. The most ambitious scenario, which combines all technological and policy measures, estimates an 83% saving in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions relative to 2015 levels, whereas additional ambitious decarbonisation efforts, such as energy efficiency, waste energy recovery and CCS, would all be needed to ensure China meets its 2060 carbon-neutrality commitment. Low carbon steel making via a circular economy approach

Deleted: ,

Deleted: and t

Deleted: The steel sector also directly contributes to global greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs):

Deleted: , with global total estimated

Commented [ZS(1)]: The original sentence reads a bit too long, we therefore made some slight edits to help break down the sentence a little, so that the reader can catch a break more easily.

Deleted: at

Deleted: of CO<sub>2</sub>

Deleted: the

Deleted: total

Deleted: H

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: industrial

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ing

Deleted: installed

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: E

67 The steel sector globally has made substantial efforts to reduce its environmental footprint.  
68 This has been the result of a combination of technological innovation and policies. One pivotal  
69 technology, as highlighted in Li and Hanaoka<sup>3</sup>, has been the use of EAF, which on average can  
70 save between 80-90% of primary energy<sup>4</sup> and uses metal scrap instead of iron ore as the main  
71 input material. Interestingly, the EAF route not only contributes to the decarbonisation of  
72 steelmaking via electrification, but also aligns with circular economy principles by substituting  
73 the extraction of raw material (iron ore) with recycled steel scrap.

74  
75 In 2020, around 30% of global steel production followed the EAF route, but mainly took place  
76 in the Global North. The other parts of the world such as Asia, South America, and Africa, are  
77 still largely dominated by the Blast Furnace-BOF production route, which is, as mentioned  
78 earlier, coal-dependent and emission-intensive. China currently adopts the EAF route for only  
79 about 10% of its steel production.

80  
81 If the decarbonisation of China's iron & steel industry heavily relies on the progressive  
82 adoption of EAFs, as discussed in Li and Hanaoka<sup>3</sup>, a well-functioning scrap market will be  
83 essential, since the production technology of EAFs requires metal scrap as main input material.  
84 However, given China's rapid growth in steel production and the relatively long technical life  
85 span of steel, especially the steel used in construction and infrastructures, the steel scrap market  
86 in China remains underdeveloped<sup>5</sup>. Exports of steel from China to the rest of the world also  
87 means that a significant part of all steel produced is not available for reprocessing in China.

88  
89 Therefore, the establishment of a well-functioning scrap market would not only call for  
90 increasing capture rate of scrap, monitoring quality, improving logistics and maintaining  
91 competitive prices, but may also require advances in the standardisation of scrap qualities and  
92 segregation methods. All these requirements suggest that it would be useful to deploy a Circular  
93 Economy approach for steelmaking to create market opportunities of scrap throughout the steel  
94 value chain. Furthermore, it is also helpful to consider the circular economy approach from a  
95 more holistic industrial view, which can include the application of industrial symbiosis and the  
96 creation of multi-sector industrial ecosystems to recover raw material, avoid waste generation  
97 and recover excess heat. Almost all by-products and waste streams from iron and steel  
98 production can be used by other sectors as substitutes of primary raw materials, with similar or  
99 even improved performance compared to those original primary raw materials<sup>6</sup>. For example,  
100 steel slag, electric arc furnace dust, mill scale, and other by-products such as BTX (benzene,  
101 toluene, and xylene) have applications across cement production, ceramics, plastics, road  
102 construction or metal processing (e.g., zinc smelting, galvanisation, etc).

103  
104 There are also opportunities to recover and reuse excess heat generated during steelmaking in  
105 other industrial processes, leading to accelerated decarbonisation across industries. For  
106 example, the production of green hydrogen through electrolysis requires electricity but also  
107 heat, the latter can help to accelerate the efficiency of the green hydrogen production process.  
108 The waste heat of steelmaking can therefore become a valuable input in producing green  
109 hydrogen. Green hydrogen can then be further used to produce low carbon steel, by replacing  
110 fossil energy used either in the BF-BOF route or in the production of Direct Reduced Iron.  
111 Many countries, including China, have pilot plants which have substituted coal by hydrogen.  
112 The aggregation of iron & steel plants located within large industrial areas (e.g., industrial  
113 parks) in China creates a significant geographical advantage to establish such industrial  
114 symbiosis systems, reducing overall system emissions.

115

Deleted: . In 2020, around 30% of global steel production followed the EAF route

Deleted: ,

Deleted: which

Deleted: The EAF route makes a large share of the production ...

Deleted: ,

Deleted: whereas

Deleted: s

Deleted: :

Deleted: for example, the EAF adoption in

Deleted: is

Deleted: in

Deleted: As highlighted by Li and Hanaoka<sup>3</sup>,

Deleted: would be

Deleted: d

Deleted: the

Deleted: route

Deleted: is a pre-requisite

Deleted: G

Deleted: Such

Deleted: A

Deleted: from

Commented [ZS(3)]: Thank you so much Teresa for editing the opening of this section to clarify those important points, which reads quite nice. However, we do feel that, in the last version, the opening of this paragraph using "A circular economy approach for steelmaking is helpful from a holistic view..." now reads a little abrupt.

We therefore adjust the texts a little, mainly by relocating the ending texts of the previous paragraph now to lines 77-80. This will help to set the stage for the introduction of the Circular Economy notion. Then, we provide a little more context (line 82-83) to highlight your insights regarding how the CE approach could be expanded more broadly across different industrial sectors. We feel that, with such edits, the narrative could be a little more closely connected and also enable the broader reader to better appreciate the merit of your important points.

Deleted: toluene

Formatted

Deleted: T

Formatted

Deleted: which

Deleted: The g

Commented [ZS(4)]: Thank you for providing some

Deleted: ed

Formatted

... [1]

... [2]

... [3]

... [4]

... [5]

144 Such a circular approach must, however, overcome sectoral silos and promote cross-sectoral  
145 collaborations. China has already made significant progress in the application of industrial  
146 symbiosis approaches in the spatial organisation of industry through the concept of Eco-  
147 Industrial Parks (EIPs) and the regeneration of traditional Industrial Parks. Eco-industrial  
148 systems can contribute to energy savings and raw material and waste reductions, and thus  
149 advance the low carbon transition at lower abatement costs. For example, Lizhou and Jinan  
150 industrial areas in China host iron-steel industrial clusters, where the application of industrial  
151 symbiosis principles has led to multiple projects with significant resource savings and carbon  
152 emissions reduction, leading to the creation of additional value added<sup>7</sup>. Similar approaches  
153 could be replicated throughout China. While Li and Hanaoka<sup>3</sup> explore some of these industrial  
154 symbiosis approaches, such as the potential of heat recovery and reuse in some scenarios, a  
155 broader application of the concept is likely to accelerate the transition towards carbon-  
156 neutrality. Indeed, a well-orchestrated circular approach across sectors, rather than a hasty  
157 single sector approach, is more likely to lead to the long-term actions necessary to achieve  
158 carbon-neutrality. Yet, the extent to which such circular and systems thinking has become a  
159 part of China's carbon-neutrality roadmap remains unclear.

#### 161 **Implications for global decarbonisation pathways**

163 One in every two tonnes of steel is produced in China. Therefore, steel sector decarbonisation  
164 efforts in China will have implications for the sector around the world. The World Steel  
165 Association (WSA) has developed a sustainability charter which reflects the increasing focus  
166 of the sector on sustainability, including addressing climate change and maximising efficient  
167 use of resources. However, relatively high costs of electricity and lower prices of primary raw  
168 materials in China make the change towards a circular approach less likely unless rapid action  
169 is taken towards: 1) decreasing government incentives and subsidies to primary extracting  
170 activities and inefficient steel production 2) ramping up the supply of renewable energies in  
171 line with carbon pricing and emission trading schemes in China in parallel with decreasing the  
172 carbon intensity in the energy mix<sup>8</sup>. Advances in the iron & steel sector will require a country-  
173 wide modernisation of energy systems in China. If China fails to move fast enough and  
174 steadily, decarbonisation of steel globally will be compromised, and the embodied carbon  
175 emissions via steel exports can affect scope 3 emissions accounting (i.e. emissions accounted  
176 throughout the value chain) and therefore compromise decarbonisation strategies in importing  
177 countries.

178  
179 How will China's national governments, institutions and industries react to changes  
180 domestically and abroad are important issues deserve further research and discussions across  
181 disciplines and stakeholders.

#### 183 **Removing socio-political barriers**

185 Although the sophisticated modelling exercise presented by Li and Hanaoka<sup>3</sup> provides insights  
186 on decarbonising China's iron and steel sector at the regional-level, a practical unanswered  
187 question is whether the institutional and political frameworks in those regions would be able  
188 to set priorities and advance at the speed and scale required for a profound carbon-neutrality  
189 transformation of steel production.

191 Recent analysis<sup>9</sup> confirms huge implementation gaps between early eco-pioneers and mass  
192 markets and coordination challenges arising through regional differences in China. So, whereas  
193 some steelmaking plants have implemented highly efficient technologies or adopted the EAF

Deleted: <sup>9</sup>

Commented [ZS(5)]: This sounds like something important, but is currently a bit vague and ambiguous - please provide more specifics to elaborate this point further for the broader reader. Does it refer to the incentives and subsidies to the extraction of primary raw materials?

Commented [ZS(6R5)]: We are afraid that we have proposed quite a couple of feedback, so this point might be missed. However, this statement remains to read a little ambiguous in the revised version - i.e. it's still a little struggling to understand what the phrase "the structure of incentives in the economy and provincial governments" exactly refer to. After reading this paragraph a few times, we feel that the key point conveyed here is to emphasise the importance of carrying out societal-wide decarbonisation of the energy system. We therefore proposed the edits. Should your intended message is different, please feel free to edit further, and we'd very much appreciate your further elaborations made in the main text or in this mark-up, so that we could better assist you with clarifying this part of the text.

Deleted: with an overall shift in the structure of incentives in the economy and provincial governments

Deleted: industrial

Deleted: <sup>10</sup>

199 route, a large share of China's steel production facilities remains technologically outdated (e.g.,  
 200 the vast majority of steel plants still adopts the BF-BOF route). Future analysis needs to  
 201 undertake critical assessments to help uncover other non-technical issues (e.g., institutional  
 202 level problems) in China that are related to the implementation gaps and coordination  
 203 challenges across provinces and sectors. Furthermore, a data base on the lifetime of steel stocks  
 204 and estimated future scrap supply, ideally based on common indicators and a comprehensive  
 205 data protocol, could help establishing low carbon steel foresight with an extended  
 206 understanding of cost-benefit analysis and modelling tools.

208 One critical aspect that should be investigated further, yet is beyond the scope of the Li and  
 209 Hanaoka article<sup>3</sup>, is related to the deployment of active policies for demand-side management.  
 210 This may include incentives to promote the reuse of structural steel, initiatives to extend its use  
 211 life and the expansion of the remanufacturing market for steel products (e.g., cars). Demand-  
 212 side management policies could make a very substantial contribution towards circularity and  
 213 decarbonization but call for a different set of policy instruments such as building passports  
 214 (which provide a detailed list of materials and specific information on building materials to  
 215 enable construction material recovery), development of facilities and infrastructure for reused  
 216 steel testing, certification standards and improved steel/scrap traceability. A combination of the  
 217 above can create the conditions for the developing world to benefit from a surplus of green  
 218 steel that would help accomplish the Sustainable Development Goals<sup>10</sup>.

## 221 REFERENCES

- 222
- 223
- 224 1. World Steel Association (WSA) (2022). 2022 World Steel in Figures, available online  
 225 at: <https://worldsteel.org/wp-content/uploads/World-Steel-in-Figures-2022.pdf>  
 226 [accessed 18/07/2022].
- 227 2. World Steel Association (WSA) (2022). Public Policy Paper, Climate Change and the  
 228 Production of Iron and Steel, available online at: [https://worldsteel.org/wp-](https://worldsteel.org/wp-content/uploads/Climate-change-production-of-iron-and-steel-2021.pdf)  
 229 [content/uploads/Climate-change-production-of-iron-and-steel-2021.pdf](https://worldsteel.org/wp-content/uploads/Climate-change-production-of-iron-and-steel-2021.pdf)
- 230 3. Li, Z. and Hanaoka, T. (2022). Exploring decarbonization in China's iron and steel  
 231 industry and co-benefits of carbon neutrality by 2060, One Earth.
- 232 4. IEA (2020). Iron and Steel Technology Roadmap, available online at:  
 233 <https://www.iea.org/reports/iron-and-steel-technology-roadmap>
- 234
- 235 5. Xuan, A., Yue, Q. (2016). Forecast of steel demand and the availability of depreciated  
 236 steel scrap in China, Resources, Conservation and Recycling, Volume 109, Pages 1-12,  
 237 ISSN 0921-3449, <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.02.003>.
- 238 6. Branca, T.A.; Fornai, B.; Colla, V.; Pistelli, M.I.; Faraci, E.L.; Cirilli, F.; Schröder, A.J.  
 239 Industrial Symbiosis and Energy Efficiency in European Process Industries: A  
 240 Review. Sustainability 2021, 13, 9159. <https://doi.org/10.3390/su13169159>
- 241 7. Dong, L. Zhang, Tsuyoshi Fujita, Satoshi Ohnishi, Huiquan Li, Minoru Fujii, Huijuan  
 242 Dong (2013). Environmental and economic gains of industrial symbiosis for Chinese  
 243 iron/steel industry: Kawasaki's experience and practice in Liuzhou and Jinan, Journal  
 244 of Cleaner Production (59): 226-238. ISSN 0959-6526,  
 245 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.06.048>.
- 246 8. Yu, Z., Geng, Y., Calzadilla, A., Bleischwitz, R. (2022) China's unconventional carbon  
 247 emissions trading market: The impact of a rate-based cap in the power generation  
 248 sector, Energy, Volume 255, 124581, ISSN 0360-5442,

Deleted: type of

Deleted: of

Commented [ZS(7)]: This sounds like an important point, but currently a little too vague - could you please provide some brief examples of such institutional choke points/barriers? Would such barriers be something that prevent the circular approach you proposed earlier on?

Commented [DAT8R7]: This requires further research so not sure if it makes sense to elaborate further

Commented [ZS(9R7)]: It is okay that there's yet a known knowledge on such institutional choke points, but it is very important to make an accurate narrative to clearly and convincingly convey your intended message. We proposed the edits based on the contexts, and also try to clarify your intended message. Please feel free to edit further, while please also ensure that the narrative is made accurate and compelling.

Deleted: choke points

Deleted: , including

Deleted: A

Deleted: bill

Deleted: ations of

Deleted: <sup>11</sup>

Moved down [1]: <#>IEA (2020). Iron and Steel Technology Roadmap, available online at: <https://www.iea.org/reports/iron-and-steel-technology-roadmap>

Commented [ZS(10)]: Many thanks for highlighting this, we will provide the detailed information for this.

Moved (insertion) [1]

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.27 cm, No bullets or numbering

Deleted: <#>Teo, P., Anasyida, A., Kho, C., Nurulakmal, M. (2019). Recycling of Malaysia's EAF steel slag waste as novel fluxing agent in green ceramic tile production: Sintering mechanism and leaching assessment, Journal of Cleaner Production, Volume 241, 118144, ISSN 0959-6526, Error! Hyperlink reference not valid.

Deleted: <#>.

269 9. Bleischwitz, R., Yang, M., Huang, B., XU, X., Zhou, J., McDowall, W., Andrews-  
270 Speed, P., Liu, Z., Yong, G. (2022). The circular economy in China: Achievements,  
271 challenges and potential implications for decarbonisation, *Resources, Conservation and*  
272 *Recycling*, Volume 183, 106350, ISSN 0921-3449,  
273 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106350>.  
274 10. Nechifor, V., Calzadilla, A., Bleischwitz, R., Winning, M., Tian, X., Usubiaga, A.  
275 (2020). Steel in a circular economy: Global implications of a green shift in China,  
276 *World Development*, Volume 127,104775, ISSN 0305-750X,  
277 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104775>.  
278  
279  
280

**Page 2: [1] Commented [ZS(3)] Zhang, Shanshan (ELS-BEI) 26/07/2022 18:40:00**

Thank you so much Teresa for editing the opening of this section to clarify those important points, which reads quite nice. However, we do feel that, in the last version, the opening of this paragraph using "A circular economy approach for steelmaking is helpful from a holistic view..." now reads a little abrupt.

We therefore adjust the texts a little, mainly by relocating the ending texts of the previous paragraph now to lines 77-80. This will help to set the stage for the introduction of the Circular Economy notion. Then, we provide a little more context (line 82-83) to highlight your insights regarding how the CE approach could be expanded more broadly across different industrial sectors. We feel that, with such edits, the narrative could be a little more closely connected and also enable the broader reader to better appreciate the merit of your important points.

Please feel free to edit further as you see appropriate.

**Page 2: [2] Formatted Domenech Aparisi, Teresa 25/07/2022 17:51:00**

Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Not Italic, Font colour: Auto

**Page 2: [3] Formatted Domenech Aparisi, Teresa 25/07/2022 17:51:00**

Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Not Italic, Font colour: Auto

**Page 2: [4] Commented [ZS(4)] Zhang, Shanshan (ELS-BEI) 26/07/2022 10:19:00**

Thank you for providing some additional information regarding how excess heat of steelmaking can be used in green hydrogen production and then the low-carbon steelmaking. While the information you provided looks useful, we feel that some additional specifics would help the broader reader to better appreciate how this industrial symbiosis process can be made available. We therefore propose some edits. The info about green hydrogen used in low-carbon steel production is provided according to .

Please feel free to edit further as you see appropriate.

**Page 2: [5] Formatted Domenech Aparisi, Teresa 25/07/2022 17:51:00**

Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Not Italic, Font colour: Auto